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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
Washington, DC 20463

April 11, 2022
VIA EMAIL

Stephen J. Kaufman, Esq.

Kaufman Legal Group

777 S. Figueroa Street, Suite 4050
Los Angeles, CA 90017
skaufman@kaufmanlegalgroup.com

RE: MUR 7882
Christy Smith
Christy Smith for Congress and
Marc Winger, in his official
capacity as Treasurer
Dear Mr. Kaufman:

On March 2, 2021, the Federal Election Commission (“Commission’) notified your
clients, Christy Smith and Christy Smith for Congress and Marc Winger, in his official of
capacity as Treasurer, of a complaint alleging violations of certain sections of the Federal
Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (the “Act”). A copy of the complaint was
previously forwarded to your clients.

Upon further review of the allegations contained in the complaint, and information
supplied by the respondents, the Commission voted to close the file in this matter on April 5,
2022. One or more Statements of Reasons, which more fully explain the Commission’s
decision, will follow.

Documents related to the case will be placed on the public record within 30 days. See
Disclosure of Certain Documents in Enforcement and Other Matters, 81 Fed. Reg. 50,702 (Aug.
2,2016).

If you have any questions, please contact Camilla Jackson Jones, the attorney assigned to

this matter, at (202) 694-1507 or cjacksonjones@fec.gov.

Sincerely,

Theodore Lutz
Acting Assistant General Counsel
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	The Foundation for Accountability and Civic Trust (FACT) is a nonprofit organization dedicated to promoting accountability, ethics, and transparency in government and civic arenas. This complaint is submitted, upon information and belief, to request the Federal Election Commission (FEC) immediately investigate and take appropriate enforcement actions to address apparent violations of the Federal Election Campaign Act by former U.S. House candidate I 
	Christy Smith and her campaign committee, Christy Smith for Congress. 

	Federal law requires candidates to report all disbursements made.2 This disclosure is one way to deter candidates from using campaign funds for illegal purposes, but it also provides the public with information to both evaluate the candidate making the expenditures and the statements being made before the election takes place. A candidate must itemize each disbursement made, providing the date the disbursement was made, the amount of the disbursement, the identity of the disbursement recipient (name and add
	1 This complaint is submitted pursuant to 52 U.S.C. 30109(a)(l ). 
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	disbursement clear."4 Specifically, if a candidate uses a payroll company to make salary payments, the candidate must disclose the disbursement to the payroll company and itemize the "ultimate recipients of the salary payments."5 Similar to federal law's prohibition against "straw donations," the campaign cannot make "straw payments" by using an intermediary to hide the true and ultimate recipient of payments. 
	In the present case, on October 30, 2019, Christy Smith filed a statement of candidacy announcing her run for the U.S. House to represent California's 25th district and naming her principal campaign committee, Christy Smith for Congress.6 In 2019 and 2020, Smith's campaign filed the following required reports: 
	7

	• 
	• 
	• 
	Year-End 2019 (original filed Jan. 29, 2020; first amendment filed June 11, 2020; and second amendment filed July 15, 2020) 

	• 
	• 
	• 
	Pre-Primary 2020 (filed Feb. 20, 2020; first amendment filed Mar. 3. 2020; second 

	amendment filed Jun. 11, 2020) 

	• 
	• 
	April Quarterly 2020 (filed April 15, 2020; first amendment filed Jun. 11, 2020) 

	• 
	• 
	Pre-Run-Off 2020 (filed April 30, 2020; first amendment filed Jun. 11. 2020) 

	• 
	• 
	Post-Run-Off2020 (filed June 11, 2020; first amendment filed July 15, 2020) 

	• 
	• 
	• 
	July Quarterly 2020 (filed July 15, 2020, first amendment filed July 22, 2020; second 

	amendment filed Oct. 15, 2020) 

	• 
	• 
	October Quarterly 2020 (filed Oct. 15. 2020) 

	• 
	• 
	Pre-General 2020 (filed Oct. 22, 2020; first amendment filed Dec. 2, 2020) 

	• 
	• 
	Post-General 2020 (filed Dec. 3, 2020; First Amendment filed Jan. 29, 2020) 


	On each of these filings, Smith failed to report the names and salaries of her campaign staff.8 Rather, Smith reported payments to Method Campaign Services for "payroll" and 
	F.E.C., How to Report Operating Expenditures, available at: FEC, Notice 2006-23, available at 
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	Once the candidate's payments to the payroll company aggregate more than $200, the candidate must report the payments to the payroll company and the "ultimate recipients of the salary payments." F.E.C., Using a 
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	Payroll Company, available at: 
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	8 Katy Grimes, Is Congressional Candidate Christy Smith Violating FEC Rules, Not Disclosing Campaign 
	Staff Salaries?, California Globe, Nov. 2, 2020, available at 
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	"salary."9 She did not, however, report the actual and true recipient of the payroll and salary disbursements, nor did she report any other payroll or salary disbursements other than those made to Method Campaign Services. The law clearly requires the specific information about who the campaign is paying and the amount and purpose of those payments. As a result, the public did not have any information about who was working for Smith's campaign. This crucial information has been used in other cases to identi
	purposes.JO 

	Additionally, at some point Smith apparently became aware of her failure to make the proper disclosures throughout her campaign, yet continued to omit the required information from three subsequent reports. On November 2, 2020, a news report revealed that Smith had failed to Smith made four filings after this: three filings (identified above) did not contain the required information; the only filing that did contain the required information was Smith's year-end 2020 report ( covering November 24 to December
	disclose the identity of her campaign staff and their salaries in her FEC filings.ti 
	1
	failure, she continued to file reports without the required information.13 

	The law is clear a candidate must disclose who is working for them and how much they are paid. In this case Christy Smith failed to do both before the election was decided. We request 
	9 Smith reported payroll disbursements to Method Campaign Services through December 2020. Christy Smith 
	for Congress, F.E.C. filings, available at 
	/? 
	https://www.fec.gov/data/disbursements
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	2020.
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	"The Globe contacted the Smith campaign to ask why salary information is not being provided to the FEC." Katy Grimes, Is Congressional Candidate Christy Smith Violating FEC Rules, Not Disclosing Campaign Staff 
	11 

	Salaries?, California Globe, Nov. 2, 2020, available at 
	­
	https://californiaglobe.com/section-2/is-congressional


	candidate-christy-smith-violating-fec-rules-not-disclosing-campaign-staff-salaries/. 
	candidate-christy-smith-violating-fec-rules-not-disclosing-campaign-staff-salaries/. 

	12 Christy Smith for Congress, F.E.C., Year-End Report, Filed Jan. 29, 2021, available at https:// 
	docquery.fec.gov/pdf/655/20210 l 299417700655/202 l O 1299417700655.pdf. 

	13 Smith filed four reports after the Globe article, including two reports on January 29, 2021, one of which did not contain the staff information and one did. 
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	the Federal Election Commission immediately investigate, require Smith to appropriately disclose staff disbursements made in 2019 and 2020, and impose any appropriate penalty. 
	Respectfully submitted, 
	~dJw., ~ 
	~dJw., ~ 
	Kendra Arnold, Executive Director Foundation for Accountability & Civic Trust 1717 K Street NW, Suite 900 Washington, D.C. 20006 
	STATE OF IOWA ) ) ss. COUNTY OF POLK ) 
	Subscribed and sworn to before me on February ~2021. 
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	The Federal Elections Commission is unambiguous when it comes to reporting 
	The Federal Elections Commission is unambiguous when it comes to reporting 
	Katy GrimesKaty Grimes, the Editor of the California Globe, is a long-time Investigative Journalist covering the California State Capitol, and the co
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	Grimes

	The Federal Elections Commission is unambiguous when it comes to the reporting of recipients of salary payments of campaign staff: The name of the individual must be listed. Congressional candidate for California’s 25th Christy Smith is not reporting the names and salaries of her campaign staffers, based on her FEC filings. She is only listing a payroll company. 
	P
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	n Services

	thousands of dollars in salary payments since November 2019. However, the $270,000 in salary payments have not identified who on her staff received a payroll check, as required by the FEC. 
	, once a payroll company is paid over $200, the salary payments must be itemized. 
	Pursuant to the FEC

	U.S. Sen. Joni Ernst (R-Iowa) found this out the hard way. 
	campaign to back down on a “subtle accounting maneuver” used to avoid “reporting the names of the campaign staffers on her payroll, how many of those staffers there are, and the extent of payments they’ve received,” . 
	BleedingHeartland.com 
	reported

	Apparently Ernst’s campaign reported itemized  the first two quarters of 2019 showing individual salary payments, but as Markay , “In the third quarter, and in every periodic FEC report since then, ‘payroll’ expenditures disappeared completely. At the same time, payments to Insperity, a payroll and benefits management service used by a handful of federal political campaigns, shot up. In the first half of 2019, the Ernst campaign paid Insperity a quarterly average of just over $8,000. In the subsequent three
	expenditures
	reported

	“Brendan Fischer, the director of Federal and FEC reforms at the Campaign 
	The FEC shows Smith has been paying Method Campaign Services tens of 
	“A great scoop by Lachlan Markay prompted U.S. Senator Joni Ernst’s 
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	Legal Center, y, ‘They can’t do that,’ adding, ‘I don’t think I’ve ever seen a campaign stop reporting any payments to individual staffers, and instead just report lump-sum payments to a payroll company.'” 
	told Marka

	What this means back in California is that we have no idea who is working for Christy Smith’s congressional campaign, in addition to violating the FEC rule. 
	As California Globe reported in 2019, when it was discovered that then-Rep. Katie Hill (D-CA) was sexually involved with one of her staff members, reporters were able to dig more into her campaign, and go to the FEC website and see who had worked for her campaign collecting a salary because it was reported correctly. 
	When Katie Hill was a candidate, it was also alleged she and her campaign staffer went on vacation and other personal trips together during the campaign, the Globe . 
	reported

	A complaint filed by a Katie Hill constituent with the  named staffer Morgan Desjardins, who was paid to be available for personal and private purposes unrelated to the Representative Hill’s congressional campaign. As such, as a candidate in the 2017-2018 election cycle, Rep. Katie Hill misused campaign funds for her personal use, the complaint alleged. 
	Federal Elections Commission

	The Globe contacted the Smith campaign to ask why salary information is not being provided to the FEC. We have not had a reply yet, but will update the article when we do. 
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	Marc Winger, Treasurer Christy Smith for Congress P.O. Box 301 24307 Magic Mountain Parkway Valencia, CA 91355 
	RE:  MUR 7882 
	Dear Mr. Winger: 
	The Federal Election Commission (FEC) received a complaint that indicates Christy Smith for Congress and you in your official capacity as treasurer may have violated the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (the “Act”).  A copy of the complaint is enclosed.  We have numbered this matter MUR 7882.  Please refer to this number in all future correspondence.   
	The Act affords you the opportunity to demonstrate in writing that no action should be taken against Christy Smith for Congress and you in your official capacity as treasurer in this matter. If you wish to file a response, you may submit any factual or legal materials that you believe are relevant to the Commission’s consideration of this matter.  Where appropriate, statements should be submitted under oath by persons with relevant knowledge.  Your response, which should be addressed to the General Counsel'
	This matter will remain confidential in accordance with 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(4)(B) and § 30109(a)(12)(A) unless you notify the Commission in writing that you wish the matter to be made public.  Please be advised that, although the Commission cannot disclose information regarding an investigation to the public, it may share information on a confidential basis with other law enforcement agencies.
	1 

	If you intend to be represented by counsel in this matter, please advise the Commission by completing the enclosed from stating the name, address and telephone number of such counsel, and authorizing such counsel to receive any notifications and other communications from the Commission. Please note that you have a legal obligation to preserve all documents, records, and materials relating to the subject matter of the complaint until such time as you are notified that the Commission has closed its file in th
	The Commission has the statutory authority to refer knowing and willful violations of the Act to the Department of Justice for potential criminal prosecution, 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(5)(C), and to report information regarding violations of law not within its jurisdiction to appropriate law enforcement authorities. Id. § 30107(a)(9). 
	Any correspondence sent to the Commission, such as a response, must be addressed to one of the following (note, if submitting via email this Office will provide an electronic receipt 
	by email):
	by email):
	by email):

	     Mail 
	     Mail 
	OR 
	Email 

	Federal Election Commission Office of Complaints Examination & Legal Administration           Attn: Kathryn Ross, Paralegal           1050 First Street, NE           Washington, DC 20463 
	Federal Election Commission Office of Complaints Examination & Legal Administration           Attn: Kathryn Ross, Paralegal           1050 First Street, NE           Washington, DC 20463 
	cela@fec.gov 


	content/documents/status_of_fec_operations_8-10-2020.pdf, the office’s mailroom is open on a limited basis and, therefore, processing paper correspondence may be delayed.  Accordingly, we strongly encourage you to file responses and additional correspondence via email. 
	As indicated in the FEC’s Notice found at https://www.fec.gov/resources/cms
	-


	If you have any questions, please contact Kathryn Ross at (202) 694-1539.  For your information, we have enclosed a brief description of the Commission's procedures for handling complaints. 
	Sincerely, 
	Figure
	Jeff S. Jordan Assistant General Counsel Complaints Examination & Legal Administration 
	Jeff S. Jordan Assistant General Counsel Complaints Examination & Legal Administration 


	Figure
	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463 
	Figure
	March 2, 2021 

	VIA EMAIL 
	VIA EMAIL 
	VIA EMAIL 

	Janelli@capcompliance.com 
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	Christy Smith P.O. Box 301 24307 Magic Mountain Parkway Valencia, CA 91355 
	RE:  MUR 7882 
	Dear Ms. Smith: 
	The Federal Election Commission (FEC) received a complaint that indicates you may have violated the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (the “Act”).  A copy of the complaint is enclosed.  We have numbered this matter MUR 7882.  Please refer to this number in all future correspondence. 
	The Act affords you the opportunity to demonstrate in writing that no action should be taken against you in this matter. If you wish to file a response, you may submit any factual or legal materials that you believe are relevant to the Commission’s consideration of this matter. Where appropriate, statements should be submitted under oath by persons with relevant knowledge.  Your response, which should be addressed to the General Counsel's Office, must be submitted within 15 days of receipt of this letter.  
	This matter will remain confidential in accordance with 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(4)(B) and § 30109(a)(12)(A) unless you notify the Commission in writing that you wish the matter to be made public.  Please be advised that, although the Commission cannot disclose information regarding an investigation to the public, it may share information on a confidential basis with other law enforcement agencies.
	1 

	If you intend to be represented by counsel in this matter, please advise the Commission by completing the enclosed from stating the name, address and telephone number of such counsel, and authorizing such counsel to receive any notifications and other communications from the Commission. Please note that you have a legal obligation to preserve all documents, records, and materials relating to the subject matter of the complaint until such time as you are notified that the Commission has closed its file in th
	The Commission has the statutory authority to refer knowing and willful violations of the Act to the Department of Justice for potential criminal prosecution, 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(5)(C), and to report information regarding violations of law not within its jurisdiction to appropriate law enforcement authorities. Id. § 30107(a)(9). 
	Any correspondence sent to the Commission, such as a response, must be addressed to one of the following (note, if submitting via email this Office will provide an electronic receipt 
	by email):
	by email):
	by email):

	     Mail 
	     Mail 
	OR 
	Email 

	Federal Election Commission Office of Complaints Examination & Legal Administration           Attn: Kathryn Ross, Paralegal           1050 First Street, NE           Washington, DC 20463 
	Federal Election Commission Office of Complaints Examination & Legal Administration           Attn: Kathryn Ross, Paralegal           1050 First Street, NE           Washington, DC 20463 
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	content/documents/status_of_fec_operations_8-10-2020.pdf, the office’s mailroom is open on a limited basis and, therefore, processing paper correspondence may be delayed.  Accordingly, we strongly encourage you to file responses and additional correspondence via email. 
	As indicated in the FEC’s Notice found at https://www.fec.gov/resources/cms
	-


	If you have any questions, please contact Kathryn Ross at (202) 694-1539.  For your information, we have enclosed a brief description of the Commission's procedures for handling complaints. 
	Sincerely, 
	Figure
	Jeff S. Jordan Assistant General Counsel Complaints Examination & Legal Administration 
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	March 17, 2021 
	VIA E-MAIL 
	VIA E-MAIL 
	Jeff S. Jordan Assistant General Counsel Office of Complaints Examination and Legal Administration Federal Election Commission 1050 First Street, NE Washington, DC 20436 
	Email: cela@fec.gov 

	Re: FEC MUR 7882 
	Re: FEC MUR 7882 
	Dear Mr. Jordan: 
	We are writing as counsel to Christy Smith, Christy Smith for Congress and its Treasurer, Marc Winger ("Respondents") in response to the complaint filed by Foundation for Accountability and Civic Trust ("Complaint") on or about February 25, 2021, in MUR 7882. 
	Introduction 
	Christy Smith was a candidate for the 25th Congressional District of California in the November 3, 2020 General Election. Christy Smith for Congress (FEC ID No. C00725101) ("Committee") is the principal campaign committee of Christy Smith, and Marc Winger serves as the Committee's Treasurer. The Complaint alleges that Respondents "failed to report the names and salaries of her campaign staff." The Complainant also alleges that only after the election, the Committee disclosed salary information. The Complain
	777 S. Figueroa Street, Suite 4050 Los Angeles, CA 90017 main 213.452.6565 fax 213.452.6575 
	www.kaufmanlegalgroup.com 

	X:\ WDocs\Clients\SMI2928\001 \00353882.DOCX 
	Jeff S. Jordan March 17, 2021 Page2 
	Analysis 
	Analysis 
	Throughout the 2020 election cycle, the Committee made payments to Method Campaign Services, a campaign consulting firm that provides a variety of campaign services, including community outreach, coalition building, data and strategy services, political campaign services, and text messaging services. (See Method Campaign Services website and description about its 
	services available at https://www.methodcampaigns.com/community-outreach.) 

	The Complainant erroneously alleges that Method Campaign Services is a payroll company, and asserts that the Committee should have itemized the ultimate recipients of salary payments made by Method Campaign Services to its employees. This is simply inaccurate and reflects a fundamental misunderstanding of Method Campaign Services' role with the campaign. Method Campaign Services is not -as the Complainant would have you believe --a payroll company processing the Committee's employee payroll. Rather, it is a
	The Complainant references Commission reporting material to suggest that payments to Method Campaign Services' professionals should have been itemized on the Committee's reports. That is based on a misunderstanding of the Commission's guidance. The referenced material makes clear that itemization is required when a committee uses the services of a payroll management company. Again, however, Method Campaign Services is not a payroll management company. It is a campaign consulting firm that hires its own empl
	The Federal Election Commission does require disclosure ofultimate payees in certain 
	circumstances, none of which apply here: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	The committee reimburses an individual (such as a campaign staffer) who used personal funds to pay committee expenses aggregating more than $200 to a single vendor; 

	• 
	• 
	The committee pays a credit card bill that includes charges of more than $200 to a single vendor;and 

	• 
	• 
	The committee is the authorized committee of a candidate who used personal funds to pay committee expenses aggregating more than $200 to a single vendor without receiving reimbursement. 


	(See FEC Notice oflnterpretive Rule 2013-09 regarding Reporting Ultimate Payees of Political Committee Disbursements.) 
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	Jeff S. Jordan March 17, 2021 Page 3 
	None ofthe foregoing circumstances apply to payments made by the Committee to Method Campaign Services. Thus, the Committee was not required to disclose the names ofthe professional staffhired by its vendor, Method Campaign Services. 
	The Complainant also alleges that the Committee began disclosing employee information only after the election. \Vhile it is true the Committee disclosed payments made to employees on its Year-End Report ( covering activity from November 24, 2020 through December 31, 2020), Complainant is misinformed yet again about the circumstances behind those payments. Unlike the earlier payments to Method Campaign Services, the Committee itself hired individuals directly as employees after the election to assist with th

	Conclusion 
	Conclusion 
	For the reasons described herein, the Complaint does not contain any legal basis for asserting a possible violation ofthe Act by the Respondents. It is based on a misunderstanding ofthe facts, a misreading ofthe Commission's advice, and appears to be politically motivated. Therefore, we respectfully request that the Commission find no reason to believe a violation has occurred and immediately dismiss this Complaint in its entirety with no further action against Christy Smith, Christy Smith for Congress and 
	Very truly yours, 
	Figure
	Stephen J. Kaufman SJK:vcc 
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	Provide one form for each Respondent/Witness 
	EMAIL FAX 202-219-3923 AR/MUR/RR/P-MUR# 7882 Stephen J. Kaufman
	cela@fec.gov 

	Name o f Counse:1 Firm: Kaufman Legal Group 777 S. Figueroa Street, Suite 4050 
	Address: Los Angeles, CA 90017 
	Office#: (213) 452-6565 Fax#: (213) 452-6575 Mobile#: E-mail: The above-named individual and/or firm is hereby designated as my counsel and is authorized to receive any 
	skaufman@kaufmanlegalgroup.com 

	notifications and other communications from the Commission and to act on my behalf before the Commission. 03/12/21 Candidate Date Title (Name -Please Print) 
	Christy Smith 
	RESPONDENT: 
	(Please print Committee Name/ Company Name/Individual Named in Notification Letter) 
	(Please print Committee Name/ Company Name/Individual Named in Notification Letter) 

	Mailing Address: P.O. Box 301, 24307 Magic Mountain Parkway 
	(Please Print) 
	Valencia, CA 91355 
	Home#: Mobile#: 
	Office#: Fax#: E-mail: 
	christy@christyforcongress.com 

	This form relates to a Federal Election Commission matter that is subject to the confidentiality provisions of52 U.S.C. § 30l09(a)(l2)(A). This section prohibits making public any notification or investigation conducted by the Federal Election Commission without the express written consent ofthe person under investigation. · 
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	Marc Winger 
	(Name -Please Print) Christy Smith for Congress, Marc Winger (Treasurer) 
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	MUR:  7882 
	DATE COMPLAINT FILED: February 25, 2021 DATE OF NOTIFICATION: March 3, 2021 LAST RESPONSE RECEIVED: March 17, 2021 DATE ACTIVATED: August 25, 2021 
	Figure

	EARLIEST SOL: January 2024 LATEST SOL: December 2025 ELECTION CYCLE:  2020 
	Foundation for Accountability and Civic Trust 
	Christy Smith Christy Smith for Congress and Marc Winger in his 
	official capacity as treasurer 
	52 U.S.C. § 30104(b) 11 C.F.R. § 104.3(b) 11 C.F.R. § 104.9 
	Disclosure Reports 
	None 
	29 The Complaint alleges that Christy Smith and Christy Smith for Congress and Marc 30 Winger, in his official capacity as treasurer (the “Committee”), failed to disclose in its reports 31 filed with the Commission the actual and true recipients of payroll and salary disbursements 32 made during the 2019-2020 election cycle.  Based on the available information, we recommend 33 that the Commission find reason to believe that the Committee violated 52 U.S.C. § 30104(b) 34 and 11 C.F.R. § 104.3(b)(4) by failin
	1

	MUR 7882 (Christy Smith for Congress, et al.) First General Counsel’s Report Page 2 of 13 
	1 II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 2 On October 30, 2019, Christy Smith filed a Statement of Candidacy announcing her 3 candidacy for the U.S. House of Representatives to represent California’s 25th Congressional 4 district, and the Committee filed a Statement of Organization as her authorized campaign 5 committee.The Complaint alleges that the Committee filed several reports between October 6 2019 and January 2020 but failed to report the names and salaries of its campaign staff until after 7 the 2020 general electi
	2 

	10 campaign consulting.
	3 

	11 Chart A – Disbursements for Salary, Payroll and Campaign Consulting 
	Disbursement Dates/Amount/ Reason for disbursement 
	Disbursement Dates/Amount/ Reason for disbursement 
	Disbursement Dates/Amount/ Reason for disbursement 
	Disclosure Report 
	Original filing 
	Amended filings 

	12/12/19 -$16,114.56 for Salary 11/26/19 -$14,708.10 for Salary 
	12/12/19 -$16,114.56 for Salary 11/26/19 -$14,708.10 for Salary 
	Year-End 2019 
	Jan. 29, 2020 
	1st amended June 11, 2020; 2nd amended July 15, 2020 

	1/3/20 -$19,168.22 for Salary 1/23/20 -$23,289.73 for Salary 1/27/20 -$14,576.10 for Salary 
	1/3/20 -$19,168.22 for Salary 1/23/20 -$23,289.73 for Salary 1/27/20 -$14,576.10 for Salary 
	Pre-Primary 2020 
	Feb. 20, 2020 
	1st amended Mar. 3, 2020; 2nd amended Jun. 11, 2020 

	2/13/20 -$14,553.78 for Salary 2/26/20 -$14,107.38 for Salary 3/10/20 -$5,000.00 for Campaign Consulting 3/10/20 -$14,107.38 for Salary 3/30/20 -$4,166.67 for Campaign Consulting 3/30/20 -$14,393.54 for Salary 
	2/13/20 -$14,553.78 for Salary 2/26/20 -$14,107.38 for Salary 3/10/20 -$5,000.00 for Campaign Consulting 3/10/20 -$14,107.38 for Salary 3/30/20 -$4,166.67 for Campaign Consulting 3/30/20 -$14,393.54 for Salary 
	April Quarterly 2020 
	April 15, 2020 
	Amended Jun. 11, 2020 

	4/15/20 -$4,166.67 for Campaign Consulting 4/15/20 -$14,393.54 for Salary 
	4/15/20 -$4,166.67 for Campaign Consulting 4/15/20 -$14,393.54 for Salary 
	Pre-Run-Off 2020 
	April 30, 2020 
	Amended Jun. 11, 2020 


	Id. at 2. FEC, Christy Smith for Congress, Statement of Org. pdf/525/201910309165306525/2019 l 0309165306525.pdf. 
	2 
	(Oct. 30, 2019), https://docquery fec.gov/ 

	Compl. C00725101/?cycle=2020&tab=filings. 
	3 
	at 2; FEC, Christy Smith for Congress, Committee Filings, https://www fec.gov/data/committee/ 
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	5/1/20 -$4,166.67 for Campaign Consulting 5/1/20 -$14,509.61 for Salary 5/13/20 -$4,166.67 for Campaign Consulting 5/13/20 -$4,378.44 for Campaign Consulting 5/13/20 -$41,495.96 for Salary 5/13/20 -$20,009.61 for Salary 
	5/1/20 -$4,166.67 for Campaign Consulting 5/1/20 -$14,509.61 for Salary 5/13/20 -$4,166.67 for Campaign Consulting 5/13/20 -$4,378.44 for Campaign Consulting 5/13/20 -$41,495.96 for Salary 5/13/20 -$20,009.61 for Salary 
	5/1/20 -$4,166.67 for Campaign Consulting 5/1/20 -$14,509.61 for Salary 5/13/20 -$4,166.67 for Campaign Consulting 5/13/20 -$4,378.44 for Campaign Consulting 5/13/20 -$41,495.96 for Salary 5/13/20 -$20,009.61 for Salary 
	Post-Run-Off 2020 
	June 11, 2020 
	Amended July 15, 2020 

	6/1/20 -$4,166.67 for Campaign Consulting 6/1/20 -$4,166.67 for Campaign Consulting 6/1/20 -$14,509.61 for Salary 6/1/20 -$18,697.11 for Salary 6/2/20 -$5,000.00 for Campaign Consulting 6/25/20 -$14,509.61 for Salary 
	6/1/20 -$4,166.67 for Campaign Consulting 6/1/20 -$4,166.67 for Campaign Consulting 6/1/20 -$14,509.61 for Salary 6/1/20 -$18,697.11 for Salary 6/2/20 -$5,000.00 for Campaign Consulting 6/25/20 -$14,509.61 for Salary 
	July Quarterly 2020 
	July 15, 2020 
	1st amended July 22, 2020; 2nd amended Oct. 15, 2020 

	7/9/20 -$19,211.53 for Payroll 7/20/20 -$18,779.71 for Payroll 8/3/20 -$19,458.79 for Payroll 8/19/20 -$19,967.78 for Payroll 9/3/20 -$19,932.30 for Payroll 9/18/20 -$20,275.42 for Payroll 
	7/9/20 -$19,211.53 for Payroll 7/20/20 -$18,779.71 for Payroll 8/3/20 -$19,458.79 for Payroll 8/19/20 -$19,967.78 for Payroll 9/3/20 -$19,932.30 for Payroll 9/18/20 -$20,275.42 for Payroll 
	October Quarterly 2020 
	Oct. 15, 2020 

	10/5/20 -$21,334.80 for Payroll 10/14/20 -$24,398.55 for Payroll 
	10/5/20 -$21,334.80 for Payroll 10/14/20 -$24,398.55 for Payroll 
	Pre-General 2020 
	Oct. 22, 2020 
	Amended Dec. 2, 2020 

	10/27/20 $23,318.55 for Payroll 10/30/20 -$27,313.36 for Payroll 11/12/20 -$22,117.39 for Payroll 11/13/20 -$4,723.26 for Payroll Recount 11/13/20 -$11,608.76 for Payroll Recount 
	10/27/20 $23,318.55 for Payroll 10/30/20 -$27,313.36 for Payroll 11/12/20 -$22,117.39 for Payroll 11/13/20 -$4,723.26 for Payroll Recount 11/13/20 -$11,608.76 for Payroll Recount 
	Post-General 2020 
	Dec. 3, 2020 
	Amended Jan. 29, 2021 

	11/24/20 -$20,348.75 for Payroll 12/15/20 -$55,697.75 for Payroll 12/18/20 -$5,592.92 for Payroll 
	11/24/20 -$20,348.75 for Payroll 12/15/20 -$55,697.75 for Payroll 12/18/20 -$5,592.92 for Payroll 
	Year-End 2020 
	Jan. 29, 2021 


	1 
	1 
	1 
	The Complaint alleges that in its disclosures, the Committee failed to report the actual 

	2 
	2 
	and true recipient of the payroll and salary disbursements and failed to report any payroll or 

	3 
	3 
	salary disbursements other than those made to MCS, which the Complaint asserts is a payroll 

	4 
	4 
	vendor.4 
	As a result, the Complaint contends, the public did not have any information about who 

	5 
	5 
	was working for Smith’s campaign, as required under the Act. 

	6 
	6 
	The Complaint alleges that even after a November 2, 2020, news report publicly revealed 

	7 
	7 
	that the Committee had failed to disclose the identities of its campaign staff and their salaries in 

	TR
	4 
	Compl. at 2-3. 
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	1 FEC filings, the Committee continued to omit this required information from three subsequent 2 reports, and did not amend any of its previous filings to include the missing information. Thus, 3 the Complaint alleges, the Committee continued failing to disclose the required information 4 about its staff even after it was made aware of this failure. 5 The Committee’s Response denies the allegations and states that MCS is a campaign 6 consulting firm that provides a variety of campaign services, including co
	5
	6

	10 salary disbursements to MCS, is inaccurate and misunderstands MCS’s role with the campaign.11 Rather, it contends that MCS is not a payroll vendor but a campaign consulting firm that 12 provides a wide variety of campaign consulting services to a number of campaigns, including the 13 Committee.It further asserts that MCS, not the Committee, hired and employed the campaign 14 professionals that worked for the Committee, and that MCS was responsible for the payment of 15 payroll taxes, workers compensation
	7 
	8 
	9

	Resp. at 2 (Mar. .). 
	6 
	17, 2021) (citing MCS website’s description about its services https://www.method 
	campaigns.com/community-outreach

	MUR 7882 (Christy Smith for Congress, et al.) First General Counsel’s Report Page 5 of 13 
	1 The Response does not 2 provide a copy of the contract or any specifics regarding the agreed-upon contractual 3 arrangements, including names or number of employees, job assignments, services provided, or 4 compensation schedules. 5 With respect to the allegation that the Committee only disclosed the payments to 6 employees after the election, the Response states that the Complainant is misinformed about the 7 8 Respondents contend that the payments disclosed in that report reflect employees that the 9 Co
	payments at issue are employees of MCS and not the Committee.
	10 
	circumstances behind the payments disclosed in the Committee’s 2020 Year-End Report.
	11 

	10 Since these individuals did not become employees of the Committee 11 until after the election, the Response argues, salary payments to these individuals were properly 12   The Response does not provide any 13 information as to whether the post-election Committee employees had previously worked for the 14 Committee as MCS consultants or were entirely new to the Committee. 15 III. LEGAL ANALYSIS 16 The Act and Commission regulations require authorized candidate committees to report 17 the name and address 
	and a potential recount.
	12 
	disclosed on the Committee’s Year-End Report.
	13
	payments.
	14 

	Id. Id. at 3. Id. 
	10 
	11 
	12 

	Id. 
	13 

	52 U.S.C. § 30104(b)(5), (6); 11 C.F.R. § 104.3(b)(4)(i), (vi). 
	14 
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	1 In this context, Commission regulations define “purpose” as a “brief statement or 2 description of why the disbursement was made.”The Commission has publicly explained that 3 “[t]he ‘purpose of disbursement’ entry, when considered along with the identity of the 4 disbursement recipient, must be sufficiently specific to make the purpose of the disbursement 5 clear.”The Commission has determined that the description of a disbursement’s purpose 6 should be sufficiently detailed to allow “a person not associa
	15 
	16 
	17 

	10 11 The Commission has provided guidance that disbursements for salary payments to 12 13 Although neither the Act nor Commission regulations expressly address the reporting of ultimate 14 payees such as subvendors, subcontractors, or vendor employees, in a 2013 interpretive rule, the 15 Commission clarified the itemization requirement and specifically addressed the proper 16 disclosure of ultimate payees where a committee pays a credit card bill that includes charges 
	expense reimbursement, and catering costs.
	18 
	employees are to be disclosed in the same manner as credit card payments and ultimate payees.
	19 

	11 C.F.R. § 104.3(b)(3)(i)(A)-(B), (b)(4)(i)(A). 
	15 

	See Statement of Policy: “Purpose of Disbursement” Entries for Filings with the Commission, 72 Fed. Reg. 887 (Jan. 9, 2007) (“Purpose Statement of Policy”) (citing 11 C.F.R. §§ 104.3(b)(3)(i)(B), (b)(4)(i)(A)). 
	16 

	Id., 72 Fed. Reg. at 888. 
	17 

	11 C.F.R. § 104.3(b)(3)(i)(B), (b)(4)(i)(A). 
	18 

	See RAD FAQs for Political Action Committees documents/RAD_FAQs-PACs_last_visited_september_21_2020.pdf (“RAD FAQs”) (“The lump sum paid to the payroll company must be followed by MEMO entries that include the individuals that were the ultimate recipients of the salary payment. Payroll company disbursements and employee MEMO entries are disclosed in the same manner as credit card payments and ultimate recipients.”) (citing 11 C.F.R. § 104.9). 
	19 
	at 9, https://www fec.gov/resources/cms-content/ 

	MUR 7882 (Christy Smith for Congress, et al.) First General Counsel’s Report Page 7 of 13 
	1 It explained that a committee itemizing a disbursement 2 to a credit card company “must itemize as a memo entry any transaction with a single vendor 3 charged on the credit card that exceeds the $200 itemization threshold” in order to itemize the 4 “ultimate payee, as the provider of the goods or services to the political committee” and to reflect 5 6 The Commission’s guide for candidates also includes instructions for interpreting the 7 regulatory requirement for itemizing operating expenditures under 11
	exceeding $200 from a single vendor.
	20 
	that the credit card company was not the provider of those goods and services.
	21 
	card using memo entries that disclose the ultimate recipient of the payment.
	22 

	10 concerning the proper reporting of disbursements when using payroll companies likewise 11 appears on the Commission’s website, which explains that “[t]he payroll disbursement will be 12 itemized . . . once payments to the payroll company aggregate more than $200 in an election 13 cycle,” and that the reporting committee “will also itemize the ultimate recipients of the salary 14 payments as memo entries . . . once aggregate payments made to the individual are more than 15 $200 in an election cycle.”  In 
	23

	In the rule, the Commission describes a committee’s obligation to report “ultimate payees” in three specific circumstances: (1) reimbursements to individuals who advance personal funds to pay committee expenses; 
	20 

	(2) payments to credit card companies; and (3) payments by candidates who use personal funds to pay committee expenses without reimbursement. See Interpretive Rule on Reporting Ultimate Payees of Political Committee Disbursements, 78 Fed. Reg. 40,625, 40,626 (Jul. 8, 2013) (“Ultimate Payee Interpretive Rule”). 
	Ultimate Payee Interpretive Rule, 78 Fed. Reg. at 40,626. In explaining the rule, “the Commission makes clear that this interpretation is based on long-standing Commission practice and is not making any fundamental changes to its rules or processes.” Id. 
	21 

	FEC Candidate Guide at 104-105. See, e.g., Factual and Legal Analysis (“F&LA”) at 5-6, MUR 6818 (Allen Weh) (dismissing committee’s failure to itemize payroll expenditures where committee corrected reports shortly after receiving RFAIs on the subject); F&LA at 12-13, MUR 6576 (McLeod) (dismissing committee’s failure to itemize payroll expenditures where committee corrected reports shortly after receiving RFAIs on the subject and before the election); F&LA at 1-3, MUR 4822 (Friends for Harry Reid) (finding r
	22 

	See HOW TO REPORT/Using a payroll company/Reporting on candidate formscandidates-and-committees/filing-reports/using-payroll-company (“Payroll Reporting Guidance”) (“The committee 
	23 
	, https://www.fec.gov/help
	-
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	1 that reporting disbursements for salary payments to employees is analogous to reporting credit 2 card payments, and thus that any such payments are to be disclosed in the same manner as credit 3 4 In prior enforcement matters, the Commission has determined that merely reporting the 5 immediate recipient of a committee’s payment will not satisfy the requirements of Section 6 30104(b)(5) when the facts indicate that the immediate recipient is merely a conduit for the 7 For example, the Commission has found 
	card payments and ultimate payees.
	24 
	intended recipient of the funds.
	25 
	conceal the ultimate payee.
	26

	10 indicated that the campaign committee paid a consultant through an intermediary in order to 
	11 conceal the true payee because it believed that state ethics rules prohibited the ultimate payee 
	12   The Commission found reason to believe that the committee 
	from receiving the funds.
	27

	13 misreported the ultimate payee because the disclosed payee was merely a conduit, “thereby 
	14 concealing the true, intended recipient of the disbursements.”
	28 

	15 Respondents assert that MCS is not a payroll management company, and therefore that 
	16 itemization of the firm’s employees is not required under the Commission’s guidance because 
	reports the disbursement to Virginia Payroll company as an operating expenditure . . . [and] includes the staff members receiving payments as memo entries”). 
	See supra Ultimate Payee Interpretive Rule; RAD FAQs. 
	24 

	F&LA at 9, MUR 6724 (Bachmann for President, et al.) (citing Conciliation Agreement at 3, MUR 4872 (Jenkins)). 
	25 

	See, e.g., F&LA at 10-11, MUR 6724 (Bachmann for President) (finding reason to believe where a committee used an intermediary to disguise the “true, intended recipient of the disbursements”); Conciliation Agreement at 2-4, MUR 4872 (Jenkins for Senate) (finding reason to believe where a vendor’s only role was “to serve as a conduit for payment . . . so as to conceal the transaction”). 
	26 

	F&LA at 3, MUR 6724 (Bachmann for President). 
	27 

	Id. at 10. 
	28 
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	1 the regulations governing the disclosure of ultimate payees in certain circumstances do not apply 2 unless: (1) the committee reimburses an individual (such as a campaign staffer) who used 3 personal funds to pay committee expenses aggregating more than $200 to a single vendor; (2) the 4 committee pays a credit card bill that includes charges of more than $200 to a single vendor; or 5 (3) the committee is the authorized committee of a candidate who used personal funds to pay 6 committee expenses aggregati
	reimbursement.
	29 

	10 hired by the vendor, MCS, to whom it made these disbursements.  The Respondents’ argument is 11 inapposite, however, because as noted above, the Commission has provided publicly available 12 guidance indicating that payments for salary payments to employees are to be disclosed in the 13 14 On the Committee’s disclosure reports, in some months there are multiple disbursements 15 to MCS that are described as “campaign consulting,” “salary,” or “payroll” (Mar. 2020 – 16 Jun. 2020), while in other months the
	same manner as credit card payments and ultimate payees.
	30 
	fail to itemize which individuals were the ultimate recipients of those payments.
	31

	Resp. at 2-3 (citing Ultimate Payee Interpretive Rule); see 52 U.S.C. § 30104(b); 11 C.F.R. §§ 104.3(b)(4)(i), (vi), 104.9. See supra Ultimate Payee Interpretive Rule; RAD FAQs; Payroll Reporting Guidance. See Chart A, supra; see also . 
	29 
	30 
	31 
	https://www.fec.gov/data/committee/C00725101/?cycle=2020&tab=filings
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	1 payments to MCS were not solely for “campaign consulting” services, as the Committee asserts, 2 but were also — as the reports indicate — for “salary” and “payroll.”  3 The Committee provides no explanation as to why it made such distinctions in describing 4 the purpose of the disbursements in its reporting, or why the amounts for “campaign consulting” 5 were similar, but the amounts for “salary” and “payroll” were both varied and significantly 6 higher:  During the 2019-2020 cycle, the Committee’s disbur
	respectively, with the salary and payroll disbursements totaling $617,206.
	32 

	10 MCS employees did not work for the campaign,but its disclosure reports indicate that it had no 11 other campaign staff, and paid no salaries to anyone other than MCS until November 2020.12 The Committee admits that MCS employees served all the functions of its campaign staff 13 and that MCS was the exclusive provider of paid staff for the Committee — although it provides 14 no contract to support its contention.  Additionally, the Committee’s reports disclose no 15 disbursements to staff until after the 
	33 
	34 

	See Chart A, supra. Resp. at 2. 2020 Year-End Report (Jan. 29, 2020). 
	32 
	33 
	34 
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	the disbursements were all for “campaign consulting” services, as the Committee now claims, there is no explanation for why there are additional disbursements for “payroll” and “salary” in the reports (sometimes in the same months), and the reporting fails to correctly provide an adequate explanation of the purpose for the disbursements.  For example, if a “payroll” disbursement was for staff that provided “canvassing” or “voter outreach” services, the latter descriptions would be more appropriate explanati
	In sum, the Committee failed to properly disclose the purpose of $617,206 in disbursements to MCS for salary and payroll, either by not properly itemizing those disbursements or by not providing an appropriate description of the purposes for those disbursements.  Thus, the Committee’s reporting does not comply with the 11 C.F.R. § 104.3(b)(4)(i) and (vi) requirements, which implement the statutory requirement at 52 U.S.C. § 30104(b), for the reporting of disbursements by a candidate’s authorized committee. 
	Accordingly, we recommend that the Commission find reason to believe that the Committee violated 52 U.S.C. § 30104(b) and 11 C.F.R. § 104.3(b)(4) based on its failure to properly disclose the purpose of its disbursements.  Because the statutory provisions involved do not contemplate personal liability for the candidate, we recommend that the Commission take no action as to Christy Smith. 
	Figure
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	10 V. RECOMMENDATIONS 
	11 
	11 
	11 
	1. Find reason to believe that Christy Smith for Congress and Marc Winger in his 12 official capacity as treasurer violated 52 U.S.C. § 30104(b) and 11 C.F.R. 13 § 104.3(b)(4) by failing to properly disclose the purpose of its disbursements; 

	14 
	14 
	2. Approve the attached Factual and Legal Analysis; 

	15 
	15 
	3. Enter into conciliation with Christy Smith for Congress and Marc Winger in his 16 official capacity as treasurer prior to a finding of probable cause to believe; 

	17 
	17 
	4. Approve the attached Conciliation Agreement; and 


	MUR 7882 (Christy Smith for Congress, et al.) First General Counsel’s Report Page 13 of 13 
	1 5. Approve the appropriate letters. 
	2 3 Lisa J. Stevenson 4 Acting General Counsel 5 6 Charles Kitcher 7 Associate General Counsel for Enforcement 8 
	26 Staff Attorney 27 28 Attachments: 
	29 1. Factual and Legal Analysis 
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	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 

	2 
	2 
	FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS 

	3 
	3 
	RESPONDENTS: Christy Smith for Congress MUR 7882 

	4 
	4 
	and Marc Winger in his official 

	5 
	5 
	capacity as treasurer 

	6 
	6 

	7 
	7 
	I. INTRODUCTION 

	8 
	8 
	This matter was generated by a complaint filed with the Federal Election Commission 

	9 
	9 
	(the “Commission”) by the Foundation for Accountability and Civic Trust.1 The Complaint 

	10 
	10 
	alleges that Christy Smith and Christy Smith for Congress and Marc Winger, in his official 

	11 
	11 
	capacity as treasurer (the “Committee”), failed to disclose in its reports filed with the 

	12 
	12 
	Commission the actual and true recipients of payroll and salary disbursements made during the 

	13 
	13 
	2019-2020 election cycle.2  Respondents deny the allegations and assert that the recipient of the 

	14 
	14 
	disbursements at issue, Method Campaign Services (“MCS”), is a campaign consulting firm that 

	15 
	15 
	hired and employed the campaign professionals that worked for the Committee, such that MCS 

	16 
	16 
	was responsible for the payment of payroll taxes, workers compensation, and any other benefits 

	17 
	17 
	that may have been provided to its professional staff, and, accordingly, that the Committee’s 

	18 
	18 
	disbursements were properly disclosed on the Committee’s disclosure reports.3 

	19 
	19 
	Based on the available information, the Commission finds reason to believe that the 

	20 
	20 
	Committee violated 52 U.S.C. § 30104(b) and 11 C.F.R. § 104.3(b)(4) by failing to properly 

	21 
	21 
	disclose the purpose of its disbursements in disclosure reports filed with the Commission. 


	See 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(1). Compl. at 2-3 (Feb. 25, 2021). Resp. at 2-3 (Mar. 17, 2021). 
	1 
	2 
	3 
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	1 
	1 
	II. 
	FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS 

	2 
	2 
	A. 
	Background 

	3 
	3 
	On October 30, 2019, Christy Smith filed a Statement of Candidacy announcing her 

	4 
	4 
	candidacy for the U.S. House of Representatives to represent California’s 25th Congressional 

	5 
	5 
	district, and the Committee filed a Statement of Organization as her authorized campaign 

	6 
	6 
	committee.4 The Complaint alleges that the Committee filed several reports between October 

	7 
	7 
	2019 and January 2020 but failed to report the names and salaries of its campaign staff until after 

	8 
	8 
	the 2020 general election, in violation of 52 U.S.C. § 30104(b) and 11 C.F.R. § 104.3(b).  

	9 
	9 
	The Committee filed the required disclosure reports referenced in Chart A below and 

	10 
	10 
	reported disbursements to Method Campaign Services (“MCS”) for salary, payroll, and 

	11 
	11 
	campaign consulting.5 

	12 
	12 
	Chart A – Disbursements for Salary, Payroll and Campaign Consulting 


	Disbursement Dates/Amount/ Reason for disbursement 
	Disbursement Dates/Amount/ Reason for disbursement 
	Disbursement Dates/Amount/ Reason for disbursement 
	Disclosure Report 
	Original filing 
	Amended filings 

	12/12/19 -$16,114.56 for Salary 11/26/19 -$14,708.10 for Salary 
	12/12/19 -$16,114.56 for Salary 11/26/19 -$14,708.10 for Salary 
	Year-End 2019 
	Jan. 29, 2020 
	1st amended June 11, 2020; 2nd amended July 15, 2020 

	1/3/20 -$19,168.22 for Salary 1/23/20 -$23,289.73 for Salary 1/27/20 -$14,576.10 for Salary 
	1/3/20 -$19,168.22 for Salary 1/23/20 -$23,289.73 for Salary 1/27/20 -$14,576.10 for Salary 
	Pre-Primary 2020 
	Feb. 20, 2020 
	1st amended Mar. 3, 2020; 2nd amended Jun. 11, 2020 

	2/13/20 -$14,553.78 for Salary 2/26/20 -$14,107.38 for Salary 3/10/20 -$5,000.00 for Campaign Consulting 3/10/20 -$14,107.38 for Salary 3/30/20 -$4,166.67 for Campaign Consulting 3/30/20 -$14,393.54 for Salary 
	2/13/20 -$14,553.78 for Salary 2/26/20 -$14,107.38 for Salary 3/10/20 -$5,000.00 for Campaign Consulting 3/10/20 -$14,107.38 for Salary 3/30/20 -$4,166.67 for Campaign Consulting 3/30/20 -$14,393.54 for Salary 
	April Quarterly 2020 
	April 15, 2020 
	Amended Jun. 11, 2020 

	4/15/20 -$4,166.67 for Campaign Consulting 4/15/20 -$14,393.54 for Salary 
	4/15/20 -$4,166.67 for Campaign Consulting 4/15/20 -$14,393.54 for Salary 
	Pre-Run-Off 2020 
	April 30, 2020 
	Amended Jun. 11, 2020 


	Id. at 2. FEC, Christy Smith for Congress, Statement of Org. pdf/525/201910309165306525/2019 l 0309165306525.pdf. 
	4 
	(Oct. 30, 2019), https://docquery fec.gov/ 

	Compl. C00725101/?cycle=2020&tab=filings. 
	5 
	at 2; FEC, Christy Smith for Congress, Committee Filings, https://www fec.gov/data/committee/ 
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	5/1/20 -$4,166.67 for Campaign Consulting 5/1/20 -$14,509.61 for Salary 5/13/20 -$4,166.67 for Campaign Consulting 5/13/20 -$4,378.44 for Campaign Consulting 5/13/20 -$41,495.96 for Salary 5/13/20 -$20,009.61 for Salary 
	5/1/20 -$4,166.67 for Campaign Consulting 5/1/20 -$14,509.61 for Salary 5/13/20 -$4,166.67 for Campaign Consulting 5/13/20 -$4,378.44 for Campaign Consulting 5/13/20 -$41,495.96 for Salary 5/13/20 -$20,009.61 for Salary 
	5/1/20 -$4,166.67 for Campaign Consulting 5/1/20 -$14,509.61 for Salary 5/13/20 -$4,166.67 for Campaign Consulting 5/13/20 -$4,378.44 for Campaign Consulting 5/13/20 -$41,495.96 for Salary 5/13/20 -$20,009.61 for Salary 
	Post-Run-Off 2020 
	June 11, 2020 
	Amended July 15, 2020 

	6/1/20 -$4,166.67 for Campaign Consulting 6/1/20 -$4,166.67 for Campaign Consulting 6/1/20 -$14,509.61 for Salary 6/1/20 -$18,697.11 for Salary 6/2/20 -$5,000.00 for Campaign Consulting 6/25/20 -$14,509.61 for Salary 
	6/1/20 -$4,166.67 for Campaign Consulting 6/1/20 -$4,166.67 for Campaign Consulting 6/1/20 -$14,509.61 for Salary 6/1/20 -$18,697.11 for Salary 6/2/20 -$5,000.00 for Campaign Consulting 6/25/20 -$14,509.61 for Salary 
	July Quarterly 2020 
	July 15, 2020 
	1st amended July 22, 2020; 2nd amended Oct. 15, 2020 

	7/9/20 -$19,211.53 for Payroll 7/20/20 -$18,779.71 for Payroll 8/3/20 -$19,458.79 for Payroll 8/19/20 -$19,967.78 for Payroll 9/3/20 -$19,932.30 for Payroll 9/18/20 -$20,275.42 for Payroll 
	7/9/20 -$19,211.53 for Payroll 7/20/20 -$18,779.71 for Payroll 8/3/20 -$19,458.79 for Payroll 8/19/20 -$19,967.78 for Payroll 9/3/20 -$19,932.30 for Payroll 9/18/20 -$20,275.42 for Payroll 
	October Quarterly 2020 
	Oct. 15, 2020 

	10/5/20 -$21,334.80 for Payroll 10/14/20 -$24,398.55 for Payroll 
	10/5/20 -$21,334.80 for Payroll 10/14/20 -$24,398.55 for Payroll 
	Pre-General 2020 
	Oct. 22, 2020 
	Amended Dec. 2, 2020 

	10/27/20 $23,318.55 for Payroll 10/30/20 -$27,313.36 for Payroll 11/12/20 -$22,117.39 for Payroll 11/13/20 -$4,723.26 for Payroll Recount 11/13/20 -$11,608.76 for Payroll Recount 
	10/27/20 $23,318.55 for Payroll 10/30/20 -$27,313.36 for Payroll 11/12/20 -$22,117.39 for Payroll 11/13/20 -$4,723.26 for Payroll Recount 11/13/20 -$11,608.76 for Payroll Recount 
	Post-General 2020 
	Dec. 3, 2020 
	Amended Jan. 29, 2021 

	11/24/20 -$20,348.75 for Payroll 12/15/20 -$55,697.75 for Payroll 12/18/20 -$5,592.92 for Payroll 
	11/24/20 -$20,348.75 for Payroll 12/15/20 -$55,697.75 for Payroll 12/18/20 -$5,592.92 for Payroll 
	Year-End 2020 
	Jan. 29, 2021 


	1 
	1 
	1 
	The Complaint alleges that in its disclosures, the Committee failed to report the actual 

	2 
	2 
	and true recipient of the payroll and salary disbursements and failed to report any payroll or 

	3 
	3 
	salary disbursements other than those made to MCS, which the Complaint asserts is a payroll 

	4 
	4 
	vendor.6 
	As a result, the Complaint contends, the public did not have any information about who 

	5 
	5 
	was working for Smith’s campaign, as required under the Act. 

	6 
	6 
	The Complaint alleges that even after a November 2, 2020, news report publicly revealed 

	7 
	7 
	that the Committee had failed to disclose the identities of its campaign staff and their salaries in 

	TR
	6 
	Compl. at 2-3. 
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	Page 4 of 12 1 FEC filings, the Committee continued to omit this required information from three subsequent 2 reports, and did not amend any of its previous filings to include the missing information. Thus, 3 the Complaint alleges, the Committee continued failing to disclose the required information 4 about its staff even after it was made aware of this failure. 5 The Committee’s Response denies the allegations and states that MCS is a campaign 6 consulting firm that provides a variety of campaign services,
	7
	8
	9 
	Committee.
	10 
	professional staff.
	11

	Id. at 3-4. 
	7 

	Resp. .). 
	8 
	at 2 (citing MCS website’s description about its services https://www method 
	campaigns.com/community-outreach
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	1 
	1 
	payments at issue are employees of MCS and not the Committee.12  The Response does not 

	2 
	2 
	provide a copy of the contract or any specifics regarding the agreed-upon contractual 

	3 
	3 
	arrangements, including names or number of employees, job assignments, services provided, or 

	4 
	4 
	compensation schedules. 

	5 
	5 
	With respect to the allegation that the Committee only disclosed the payments to 

	6 
	6 
	employees after the election, the Response states that the Complainant is misinformed about the 

	7 
	7 
	circumstances behind the payments disclosed in the Committee’s 2020 Year-End Report.13 

	8 
	8 
	Respondents contend that the payments disclosed in that report reflect employees that the 

	9 
	9 
	Committee hired after the election to assist with then-ongoing post-election canvassing activities 

	10 
	10 
	and a potential recount.14  Since these individuals did not become employees of the Committee 

	11 
	11 
	until after the election, the Response argues, salary payments to these individuals were properly 

	12 
	12 
	disclosed on the Committee’s Year-End Report.15  The Response does not provide any 

	13 
	13 
	information as to whether the post-election Committee employees had previously worked for the 

	14 
	14 
	Committee as MCS consultants or were entirely new to the Committee. 

	15 
	15 
	B. Legal Analysis 

	16 
	16 
	The Act and Commission regulations require authorized candidate committees to report 

	17 
	17 
	the name and address of each person to whom they make expenditures or other disbursements 

	TR
	12 Id. 

	TR
	13 Id. at 3. 

	TR
	14 Id. 

	TR
	15 Id. 
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	Page 6 of 12 1 aggregating more than $200 per election cycle, as well as the date, amount, and purpose of such 2 3 In this context, Commission regulations define “purpose” as a “brief statement or 4 description of why the disbursement was made.”The Commission has publicly explained that 5 “[t]he ‘purpose of disbursement’ entry, when considered along with the identity of the 6 disbursement recipient, must be sufficiently specific to make the purpose of the disbursement 7 clear.”The Commission has determined 
	payments.
	16 
	17 
	18 
	19 
	expense reimbursement, and catering costs.
	20 
	employees are to be disclosed in the same manner as credit card payments and ultimate payees.
	21 

	52 U.S.C. § 30104(b)(5), (6); 11 C.F.R. § 104.3(b)(4)(i), (vi). 
	16 

	11 C.F.R. § 104.3(b)(3)(i)(A)-(B), (b)(4)(i)(A). 
	17 

	See Statement of Policy: “Purpose of Disbursement” Entries for Filings with the Commission, 72 Fed. Reg. 887 (Jan. 9, 2007) (“Purpose Statement of Policy”) (citing 11 C.F.R. §§ 104.3(b)(3)(i)(B), (b)(4)(i)(A)). 
	18 

	Id., 72 Fed. Reg. at 888. 
	19 

	11 C.F.R. § 104.3(b)(3)(i)(B), (b)(4)(i)(A). 
	20 

	See RAD FAQs for Political Action Committees documents/RAD_FAQs-PACs_last_visited_september_21_2020.pdf (“RAD FAQs”) (“The lump sum paid to the payroll company must be followed by MEMO entries that include the individuals that were the ultimate recipients of the salary payment. Payroll company disbursements and employee MEMO entries are disclosed in the same manner as credit card payments and ultimate recipients.”) (citing 11 C.F.R. § 104.9). 
	21 
	at 9, https://www fec.gov/resources/cms-content/ 
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	Page 7 of 12 1 payees such as subvendors, subcontractors, or vendor employees, in a 2013 interpretive rule, the 2 Commission clarified the itemization requirement and specifically addressed the proper 3 disclosure of ultimate payees where a committee pays a credit card bill that includes charges 4 It explained that a committee itemizing a disbursement 5 to a credit card company “must itemize as a memo entry any transaction with a single vendor 6 charged on the credit card that exceeds the $200 itemization t
	exceeding $200 from a single vendor.
	22 
	that the credit card company was not the provider of those goods and services.
	23 
	card using memo entries that disclose the ultimate recipient of the payment.
	24 

	In the rule, the Commission describes a committee’s obligation to report “ultimate payees” in three specific circumstances: (1) reimbursements to individuals who advance personal funds to pay committee expenses; 
	22 

	(2) payments to credit card companies; and (3) payments by candidates who use personal funds to pay committee expenses without reimbursement. See Interpretive Rule on Reporting Ultimate Payees of Political Committee Disbursements, 78 Fed. Reg. 40,625, 40,626 (Jul. 8, 2013) (“Ultimate Payee Interpretive Rule”). 
	Ultimate Payee Interpretive Rule, 78 Fed. Reg. at 40,626. In explaining the rule, “the Commission makes clear that this interpretation is based on long-standing Commission practice and is not making any fundamental changes to its rules or processes.” Id. 
	23 

	FEC Candidate Guide at 104-105. See, e.g., Factual and Legal Analysis (“F&LA”) at 5-6, MUR 6818 (Allen Weh) (dismissing committee's failure to itemize payroll expenditures where committee corrected reports shortly after receiving RFAIs on the subject); F&LA at 12-13, MUR 6576 (McLeod) (dismissing committee's failure to itemize payroll expenditures where committee corrected reports shortly after receiving RFAIs on the subject and before the election); F&LA at 1-3, MUR 4822 (Friends for Harry Reid) (finding r
	24 
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	Page 8 of 12 1 cycle,” and that the reporting committee “will also itemize the ultimate recipients of the salary 2 payments as memo entries . . . once aggregate payments made to the individual are more than 3 $200 in an election cycle.”  In sum, the Commission’s publicly available guidance provides 4 that reporting disbursements for salary payments to employees is analogous to reporting credit 5 card payments, and thus that any such payments are to be disclosed in the same manner as credit 6 7 In prior enfo
	25
	card payments and ultimate payees.
	26 
	intended recipient of the funds.
	27
	conceal the ultimate payee.
	28
	from receiving the funds.
	29

	See HOW TO REPORT/Using a payroll company/Reporting on candidate formscandidates-and-committees/filing-reports/using-payroll-company (“Payroll Reporting Guidance”) (“The committee reports the disbursement to Virginia Payroll company as an operating expenditure . . . [and] includes the staff members receiving payments as memo entries”). 
	25 
	, https://www.fec.gov/help
	-


	See supra Ultimate Payee Interpretive Rule; RAD FAQs. 
	26 

	F&LA at 9, MUR 6724 (Bachmann for President, et al.) (citing Conciliation Agreement at 3, MUR 4872 (Jenkins)). 
	27 

	See, e.g., F&LA at 10-11, MUR 6724 (Bachmann for President) (finding reason to believe where a committee used an intermediary to disguise the “true, intended recipient of the disbursements”); Conciliation Agreement at 2-4, MUR 4872 (Jenkins for Senate) (finding reason to believe where a vendor’s only role was “to serve as a conduit for payment . . . so as to conceal the transaction”). 
	28 

	F&LA at 3, MUR 6724 (Bachmann for President). 
	29 
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	Page 9 of 12 1 misreported the ultimate payee because the disclosed payee was merely a conduit, “thereby 2 concealing the true, intended recipient of the disbursements.”3 Respondents assert that MCS is not a payroll management company, and therefore that 4 itemization of the firm’s employees is not required under the Commission’s guidance because 5 the regulations governing the disclosure of ultimate payees in certain circumstances do not apply 6 unless: (1) the committee reimburses an individual (such as a
	30 
	reimbursement.
	31 
	same manner as credit card payments and ultimate payees.
	32 

	Id. at 10. 
	30 

	Resp. at 2-3 (citing Ultimate Payee Interpretive Rule); see 52 U.S.C. § 30104(b); 11 C.F.R. §§ 104.3(b)(4)(i), (vi), 104.9. See supra Ultimate Payee Interpretive Rule; RAD FAQs; Payroll Reporting Guidance. 
	31 
	32 
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	1 
	1 
	2020), while in other months there are only disbursements for “salary” or “payroll” (Nov. 2019 – 

	2 
	2 
	Feb 2020 and July 2020 – Dec 2020); all of the entries for “salary” or “payroll” fail to itemize 

	3 
	3 
	which individuals were the ultimate recipients of those payments.33  Thus, based on the 

	4 
	4 
	Committee’s own description of its disbursements, it appears that the Committee’s payments to 

	5 
	5 
	MCS were not solely for “campaign consulting” services, as the Committee asserts, but were 

	6 
	6 
	also — as the reports indicate — for “salary” and “payroll.”  

	7 
	7 
	The Committee provides no explanation as to why it made such distinctions in describing 

	8 
	8 
	the purpose of the disbursements in its reporting, or why the amounts for “campaign consulting” 

	9 
	9 
	were similar, but the amounts for “salary” and “payroll” were both varied and significantly 

	10 
	10 
	higher:  During the 2019-2020 cycle, the Committee’s disbursements for campaign consulting 

	11 
	11 
	totaled $39,374, whereas its disbursements for salary and payroll totaled $268,627 and $348,579, 

	12 
	12 
	respectively, with the salary and payroll disbursements totaling $617,206.34 The Committee 

	13 
	13 
	asserts that it hired MCS staff to perform all of the functions of a campaign staff, and that the 

	14 
	14 
	MCS employees did not work for the campaign,35 but its disclosure reports indicate that it had no 

	15 
	15 
	other campaign staff, and paid no salaries to anyone other than MCS until November 2020.36 

	16 
	16 
	The Committee admits that MCS employees served all the functions of its campaign staff 

	17 
	17 
	and that MCS was the exclusive provider of paid staff for the Committee — although it provides 

	18 
	18 
	no contract to support its contention.  Additionally, the Committee’s reports disclose no 

	TR
	33 See Chart A., supra; see also https://www fec.gov/data/committee/C00725101/?cycle=2020&tab=filings. 

	TR
	34 See Chart A, supra. 

	TR
	35 Resp. at 2. 

	TR
	36 2020 Year-End Report (Jan. 29, 2020). 
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	1 
	1 
	disbursements to staff until after the election, and its Response makes no claim that volunteers 

	2 
	2 
	staffed the campaign. 

	3 
	3 
	Finally, the Response provides no explanation as to why the Committee reported 

	4 
	4 
	“payroll” and “salary” disbursements to MCS separately from the “campaign consulting.”  These 

	5 
	5 
	separate payments, without further itemization or explanation, leave the public without a basic 

	6 
	6 
	understanding of the purpose of those disbursements and to whom they were actually made.  If 

	7 
	7 
	the disbursements were all for “campaign consulting” services, as the Committee now claims, 

	8 
	8 
	there is no explanation for why there are additional disbursements for “payroll” and “salary” in 

	9 
	9 
	the reports (sometimes in the same months), and the reporting fails to correctly provide an 

	10 
	10 
	adequate explanation of the purpose for the disbursements.  For example, if a “payroll” 

	11 
	11 
	disbursement was for staff that provided “canvassing” or “voter outreach” services, the latter 

	12 
	12 
	descriptions would be more appropriate explanations of the purpose of the disbursement.  

	13 
	13 
	Alternatively, if the disbursements were for “payroll” and “salary” for campaign employees and 

	14 
	14 
	MCS was simply acting as a payroll vendor, as alleged in the Complaint, then further itemization 

	15 
	15 
	as to the ultimate payee of those disbursements is required. 

	16 
	16 
	In sum, the Committee failed to properly disclose the purpose of $617,206 in 

	17 
	17 
	disbursements to MCS for salary and payroll, either by not properly itemizing those 

	18 
	18 
	disbursements or by not providing an appropriate description of the purposes for the 

	19 
	19 
	disbursements.  Thus, the Committee’s reporting does not comply with the 11 C.F.R. 

	20 
	20 
	§ 104.3(b)(4)(i) and (vi) requirements, which implement the statutory requirement at 52 U.S.C. 

	21 
	21 
	§ 30104(b), for the reporting of disbursements by a candidate’s authorized committee.  
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	Page 12 of 12 1 Accordingly, the Commission finds reason to believe that the Committee violated 2 52 U.S.C. § 30104(b) and 11 C.F.R. § 104.3(b)(4) based on its failure to properly disclose the 3 purpose of its disbursements.  
	Attachment 1 
	BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	In the Matter of 
	In the Matter of 
	In the Matter of 
	) 

	TR
	) 
	MUR 7882 

	Christy Smith; Christy Smith for 
	Christy Smith; Christy Smith for 
	) 

	Congress and Marc Winger in his official 
	Congress and Marc Winger in his official 
	) 

	capacity as treasurer 
	capacity as treasurer 
	) 


	CERTIFICATION 
	CERTIFICATION 

	I, Vicktoria J. Allen, recording secretary of the Federal Election Commission executive session, do hereby certify that on April 05, 2022, the Commission took the following actions in the above-captioned matter:  
	1. Failed by a vote of 3-3 to: 
	a. 
	a. 
	a. 
	Find reason to believe that Christy Smith for Congress and Marc Winger in his official capacity as treasurer violated 52 U.S.C.  § 30104(b) and 11 C.F.R. § 104.3(b)(4) by failing to properly disclose the purpose of its disbursements. 

	b. 
	b. 
	Approve the Factual and Legal Analysis, as recommended in the First General Counsel’s Report dated December 23, 2021. 

	c. 
	c. 
	Enter into conciliation with Christy Smith for Congress and Marc Winger in his official capacity as treasurer prior to a finding of probable cause to believe. 

	d. 
	d. 
	Approve the Conciliation Agreement, as recommended in the First General Counsel’s Report dated December 23, 2021. 

	e. 
	e. 
	Approve the appropriate letters. 


	Commissioners Broussard, Walther, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the motion. Commissioners Cooksey, Dickerson, and Trainor dissented. 
	Federal Election Commission Page 2 Certification for MUR 7882 April 5, 2022 
	2. Failed by a vote of 3-3 to: 
	a. Dismiss the allegation that Christy Smith for Congress and Marc Winger in his official capacity as treasurer, and Christy Smith violated 52 U.S.C. § 30104(b) and 11 C.F.R. § 104.3(b)(4), pursuant to the Commission’s prosecutorial discretion under 
	Heckler v. Chaney. 
	b. 
	b. 
	b. 
	Close the file. 

	c. 
	c. 
	Send the appropriate letters. 


	Commissioners Cooksey, Dickerson, and Trainor voted affirmatively for the motion.  Commissioners Broussard, Walther, and Weintraub dissented. 
	3. Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: 
	a. Close the file. 
	b. Issue the appropriate letters. Commissioners Broussard, Cooksey, Dickerson, Trainor, Walther, and Weintraub voted 
	affirmatively for the decision. Attest: 
	Digitally signed by Vicktoria J Allen
	Figure

	Vicktoria J Allen 
	Date:  16:02:00 -04'00'
	2022.04.08

	April 8, 2022 Date 
	Vicktoria J. Allen Acting Deputy Secretary of the Commission 
	Figure
	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION Washington, DC 20463 
	April 11, 2022 
	CERTIFIED MAIL RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED 
	CERTIFIED MAIL RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED 

	Kendra Arnold, Executive Director 
	Foundation for Accountability and Civic Trust 1717 K Street NW, Suite 900 
	Washington, DC 20006 
	RE: MUR 7882 
	Dear Ms. Arnold: 
	This is in reference to the complaint you filed with the Federal Election Commission (“Commission”) on February 25, 2021, alleging violations of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (the “Act”).  After considering the circumstances of this matter, the Commission voted to close the file on April 5, 2022.  One or more Statements of Reasons, which more fully explain the basis for the Commission’s decision, will follow. 
	Documents related to the case will be placed on the public record within 30 days.  See Disclosure of Certain Documents in Enforcement and Other Matters, 81 Fed. Reg. 50,702 (Aug. 2, 2016). 
	The Act allows a complainant to seek judicial review of the Commission’s dismissal of this action.  See 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(8).  If you have any questions, please contact Camilla 
	Jackson Jones, the attorney assigned to this matter, at (202) 694-1507 or cjacksonjones@fec.gov. 

	. 
	Sincerely, 
	Lisa Stevenson Acting General Counsel 
	BY: Theodore Lutz 
	Acting Assistant General Counsel 
	Figure
	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION Washington, DC 20463 
	April 11, 2022 
	VIA EMAIL 
	VIA EMAIL 

	Stephen J. Kaufman, Esq. Kaufman Legal Group 777 S. Figueroa Street, Suite 4050 Los Angeles, CA 90017 
	skaufman@kaufmanlegalgroup.com 

	RE: MUR 7882 
	Christy Smith 
	Christy Smith for Congress and 
	Marc Winger, in his official 
	capacity as Treasurer Dear Mr. Kaufman: 
	On March 2, 2021, the Federal Election Commission (“Commission”) notified your clients, Christy Smith and Christy Smith for Congress and Marc Winger, in his official of capacity as Treasurer, of a complaint alleging violations of certain sections of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (the “Act”). A copy of the complaint was previously forwarded to your clients.  
	Upon further review of the allegations contained in the complaint, and information supplied by the respondents, the Commission voted to close the file in this matter on April 5, 2022. One or more Statements of Reasons, which more fully explain the Commission’s decision, will follow.  
	Documents related to the case will be placed on the public record within 30 days.  See Disclosure of Certain Documents in Enforcement and Other Matters, 81 Fed. Reg. 50,702 (Aug. 2, 2016).  
	If you have any questions, please contact Camilla Jackson Jones, the attorney assigned to 
	this matter, at (202) 694-1507 or cjacksonjones@fec.gov. 

	Sincerely, 
	Theodore Lutz 
	Acting Assistant General Counsel 
	Compl. at 2-3 (Feb. 25, 2021). 
	Compl. at 2-3 (Feb. 25, 2021). 
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